



International Journal of Workplace Health Management

## Engaging leaders at two hierarchical levels in organizational health interventions: Insights from the intervention team

Journal:	<i>International Journal of Workplace Health Management</i>
Manuscript ID	IJWHM-07-2018-0086.R1
Manuscript Type:	Research Paper
Keywords:	organisational health interventions, Leadership, line managers, senior management, engagement, intervention implementation

SCHOLARONE™  
Manuscripts

1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29  
30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43  
44  
45  
46  
47  
48  
49  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

Engaging leaders at two hierarchical levels in organizational health interventions: Insights  
from the intervention team

## Abstract

Purpose: Although visible leader support is an essential ingredient for successful organizational health interventions, knowledge on how leaders at different hierarchical levels engage with interventions is underdeveloped. The aim of this study was to explore this leader engagement by drawing from the experiences of the intervention team.

Methodology: Data from semi-structured interviews with the team responsible for implementing an organizational health intervention in two large UK organizations was used to examine how leaders at strategic (senior management) and operational (line managers) leadership positions engaged with the intervention.

Findings: Thematic analysis uncovered sevensix themes and 16 sub-themes covering the leaders' ways by which leaders were consulted on the intervention plans, initial reactions to the intervention, barriers to leader engagement reasons for their reactions, ways in which the intervention team dealt with these barriers to leader engagement, factors facilitating and factors accelerating that related to leader engagement, and factors that differentiated differences in engagement between leadership levels, and time and pace of activities. Some of these were pertinent to all levels of leadership and others to a single level.

Research implications: This study can inform research into the conditions for optimizing leader engagement in organizational health interventions and beyond. Insights also emerged on the roles of the qualities around leadership in interventions, the role of positive attitudes and perceptions by leaders at different hierarchical levels, and the value of perspective-taking for intervention implementation.

Practical implications: Recommendations for bolstering the engagement of leaders in interventions are offered, that apply to all and separately to leaders at strategic and/or operational levels.

Originality: The experiences of the intervention team who sought to engage leaders at different organizational levels to support the intervention are invaluable. Understanding how leader engagement can be maximized can better equip intervention teams for delivering successful interventions.

Keywords: organizational health interventions, leadership, hierarchy, line managers, senior management, engagement

1  
2  
3 Engaging leaders at two hierarchical levels in organizational health interventions: Insights  
4  
5 from the intervention team  
6

7 There is now strong consensus among intervention practitioners that visible support  
8  
9 from the leaders of an organization is an essential ingredient for successful organizational  
10  
11 health interventions (e.g., Biron and Karanika-Murray, 2014; Cox, Karanika, Griffiths and  
12  
13 Houdmont, 2007; Dahl-Jørgensen and Saksvik, 2005; Ipsen, Gish, & Poulsen, 2015; Nielsen,  
14  
15 Taris and Cox, 2010; Nytrø, Saksvik and Torvatn, 1998; Sorensen and Holman, 2014). This  
16  
17 support has to be discernible and enacted, rather than symbolic or intended. Indeed, leaders  
18  
19 set priorities and control intervention resources (Lindquist and Cooper, 1999) and in this way  
20  
21 establish the necessary foundations for successful and sustainable outcomes. At the same  
22  
23 time, a lack of leader support can also lead to intervention derailment (Karanika-Murray and  
24  
25 Biron, 2015). Because leadership is a crucial ingredient for organizational interventions, its  
26  
27 absence also renders interventions more vulnerable to failure (Nytrø, Saksvik, Mikkelsen,  
28  
29 Bohle and Quinlan, 2000). Therefore, to interventions, leaders can be equally a source of  
30  
31 support and reason for derailment – they can ‘make or break’ an intervention.  
32  
33  
34

35 Even in the case of initiatives instigated by the organization, the engagement of lead-  
36  
37 ers with an intervention is not necessarily a certainty, ~~since as~~ the forces ~~that power~~ powering  
38  
39 leader engagement are not always ~~clear~~ explicit. Organizational health interventions can be  
40  
41 indicative of the organization's genuine concern for employee health and wellbeing, but,  
42  
43 equally, they can also be borne out of necessity to abide by legislation or form part of broader  
44  
45 initiatives aimed primarily at improving organizational productivity and performance. How-  
46  
47 ever, not all leaders are created the same. When it comes to organizational change initiatives,  
48  
49 the extent and efficacy of leader influence depend on his/her remit and position in the organi-  
50  
51 zational hierarchy. Indeed, although intervention implementation theory distinguishes be-  
52  
53 tween visible support from the strategic leaders, or senior management, and active implemen-  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

tation by operational leaders, or line managers, we know little about how leaders at different hierarchical levels engage in intervention implementation or what leader engagement in interventions looks like.

The aim of this study was to develop an understanding of how leaders at different levels in the organizational hierarchy engage in intervention implementation. A crucial distinction We distinguish between leaders in strategic roles and those in operational roles is highlighted. The former refers to the senior management team at the highest level of seniority “who hold executive powers and have responsibility for corporate strategy and governance” (Karanika-Murray *et al.*, 2015), whereas the latter are the first line managers with whom employees have most frequent interaction and to whom they report (Hales, 2005).

To achieve its aims, the study drew from the perspectives of the best informants on the implementation process: the team responsible for delivering the intervention who can offer the most comprehensive account of the intervention. Indeed, the existence of a dedicated intervention team has been hailed as the second most important element of successful organizational health interventions and, for the purposes of this study, is the most reliable source of information on leader engagement, especially in complex interventions. In what follows, we discuss current research on the role of leadership in the context of organizational health interventions is discussed, and the distinction distinguish between two qualitatively different levels of leaders is expanded, before we outline our the study is outlined and and present its findings presented.

#### *The importance of leadership and leader engagement for intervention effectiveness*

Leadership, together with rules, culture, and regulations, is part of the institutional context that surrounds successful interventions (Macfarlane *et al.*, 2011). Not only can leaders “transform followers’ beliefs to enhance well-being” (Arnold *et al.*, 2007) but also leaders hold the resources for successful change management programmes more broadly and for in-

1  
2  
3 interventions in particular. Goleman (1998) noted that effectiveness in leading change is one of  
4  
5 the essential personal capabilities of leaders, while Tvedt, Sakvik and Nytrøj (2009) de-  
6  
7 scribed manager availability as one of the four dimensions of a healthy change process. Lack  
8  
9 of leader engagement can ~~also~~ derail organizational health interventions if the leaders resist  
10  
11 change, assign low priority, or communicate the intervention inadequately (Karanika-Murray  
12  
13 and Biron, 2015). The attitudes ~~and~~, agendas, and mental models that leaders bring into an  
14  
15 intervention can determine their reactions (Nielsen and Randall, 2012a, 2012b), including  
16  
17 how actively they engage with the intervention (Nielsen, 2013). Because of the importance of  
18  
19 leader influence for the success of any organizational initiative, leader disengagement from  
20  
21 interventions can represent a waste of essential, often scarce, intervention resources.

22  
23  
24 Influence over change is thus an inherent and essential quality of leadership. Some  
25  
26 definitions position influence over change as tautological to leadership. Whereas influence is  
27  
28 defined as “the ways in which people at work influence their colleagues and superiors to ob-  
29  
30 tain personal benefits or to satisfy organizational goals” (p. 440, Kipnis, Schmidt and Wil-  
31  
32 kinson, 1980), leadership is “the capability to influence positively and impact on situations  
33  
34 and people in order to make a difference” and “leaders exert their influence and power in  
35  
36 such a way that they impact the status quo and others in a positive way” (p. 269, Ungerer *et*  
37  
38 *al.*, 2013). Northouse (2010) defined leadership ~~even~~ more succinctly as the “process where-  
39  
40 by an individual influences a group of individuals to achieve a common goal” (p. 3).

41  
42  
43 It should be noted that there is a difference between leadership as a position in the or-  
44  
45 ganizational hierarchy and leadership as a function in relation to or defined by a specific goal.  
46  
47 Although intervention implementation theory has tended to focus on senior management and  
48  
49 first line managers as status positions in the organizational hierarchy (Biron *et al.*, 2010; Cox  
50  
51 *et al.*, 2007; Hasson, Villaume, von Thiele Schwarz and Palm, 2014; Karanika-Murray and  
52  
53 Biron, 2014; Randall, Griffiths and Cox, 2005), it is the intervention team (that often includes  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

line managers) who hold the reins of implementing the intervention ~~implementation~~. Although, in theory, intervention teams should be equipped with the necessary resources to deliver an intervention, in reality, ~~they~~ their role is ~~are~~ often no more than that of executors with accountability but with little decision authority ~~for over~~ interventions ~~activities~~ (Karanika-Murray and Weyman, 2013). So much so, that the initiative may be at risk of failure if the intervention team lacks the necessary support and resources to implement it (Biron *et al.*, 2010; Karanika-Murray and Biron, 2014; Randall, Griffiths and Cox, 2005). Organizational leaders have structural power whereas intervention teams have formative power in organizational health interventions, but the successful work of the latter is only possible through successful engagement of the former ~~in organizational health interventions~~.

Leader influence over change can be achieved via a range of mechanisms, tactics, and skills that the leaders can bring into an intervention. For example, political skill (Munyon, Summers, Thompson and Ferris, 2015; Ferris, Treadway, Perrewé, Brouer, Douglas and Lux, 2007) and intra-organizational influence tactics (Kipnis, Schmidt and Wilkinson, 1980; Kipnis, Schmidt, Swaffin-Smith and Wilkinson, 1984; Schmidt and Yeh, 1992) are critical for securing resources and ensuring effectiveness. In relation to change initiatives, a range of mechanisms of leader influence have been identified, including promoting increased transparency— and thus in this way demonstrating accountability by the leaders for the activities and the change sought to be achieved (Goodridge, Westthorp, Rotter, Dobson and Bath, 2015); controlling essential resources such as the time that employees spend on the intervention (Dahl-Jørgensen and Saksvik, 2005); increasing perceptions that the work is meaningful (Arnold, Turner, Barling, Kellaway and McKee, 2007); influencing participants' attitudes and perceptions (Hiller, DeChurch, Murase and Doty, 2011), as well as initiative (Weiner, 2009), motivation and readiness for change (Cox *et al.*, 2007; Weiner, 2009), or even the extent to which they value change (Weiner, 2009); or acting as opinion leaders (Locock, Dop-



son, Chambers and Gabbay, 2001). Therefore, the active engagement and influence by of those in power to influence the success of an interventions is an importantcritical resource for that the intervention team ought to maximize.

Indeed, securing leader engagement-of leaders is often integrated in the preparatory stages of organizational health interventions, which are designed to build participation and ownership among all stakeholders. Although leaders have the power to influence change, they may also lack experience in effectively leading organizational change (Aarons *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, the first task in intervention development involves agreeing roles and responsibilities in order to clarify expectations, effectively manage feedback, and establish clear communication lines among stakeholders (i.e., senior managers, middle managers, employees, unions, etc.) (Biggs and Brough, 2005; Cox *et al.*, 2007). It may involve briefings for the leaders (Cox *et al.*, 2007) and developing organizational structures and processes de-veloped to support leaders in intervention implementation (e.g., Aarons *et al.*, 2007). In the crux of intervention planning is the implicit understanding appreciation that efforts to engage leaders, or any intervention stakeholders, will be more effective if they are aligned with the leader's target's perspectives and remit and needs, but these may be determined by the leader's position in the organizational hierarchy.

#### *Leader engagement in interventions by leader position in the organizational hierarchy*

Leaders at different hierarchical levels in the organization have different roles, remits, responsibilities, and spheres of influence (Mintzberg, 1979; O'Dea and Flin, 2003). The roles of leaders lower on the hierarchy are “more detailed and elaborated, less abstract and aggregated, more focused on the work flow itself” (Mintzberg, 1979, p. 20). Senior leaders tend to make more strategic decisions with longer-term impact on the way that the organization operates and to interact with employees in more formal and structured ways, whereas line managers tend to have more day-to-day operational roles and to interact with employees in less

1  
2  
3 formal and more personal ways (Mintzberg, 1979; O’Dea and Flin, 2003; Karanika-Murray,  
4 Bartholomew, Williams and Cox, 2015). Leaders at different hierarchical levels control dif-  
5 ferent types of resources of importance to interventions, but the difference is more qualitative  
6 rather than quantitative, such that the range of roles applies to all leaders in the hierarchy but  
7 to a different extent (Mintzberg, 1979; Karanika-Murray *et al.*, 2015). Although influence  
8 over change is an essential leader quality that is invaluable for intervention implementation,  
9 its potency will vary according to the leader’s seniority and, consequently, the roles and re-  
10 sponsibilities that he or she brings to interventions.

11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20 Furthermore, a leader’s hierarchical distance or proximity to the intervention team  
21 and intervention recipients signifies closer working relationships, more frequent communica-  
22 tion, and more personal influence. Reflecting on intra-organizational influence, Kipnis *et al.*,  
23 (1980) suggested that “as the number of persons in a work unit increases, a greater reliance is  
24 placed on strong and impersonal means of control” (p. 450). Similarly, clear communication  
25 is an established essential ingredient for successful interventions (Biggs and Brough, 2005;  
26 Cox *et al.*, 2007) but the efficiency of communication initiated by leaders may depend on  
27 their hierarchical position. Because of the line manager’s<sup>2</sup> remit to manage his or her subor-  
28 dinate<sup>2</sup>s’ day-to-day work, communication between them will tend to be more frequent and  
29 informal than communication between the senior management and employees.

30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42 Therefore, the engagement of leaders at different levels of the organizational hierar-  
43 chy in intervention implementation is idiosyncratic to their seniority, which will signify  
44 ies different roles, responsibilities, communication, and influence. ~~The aim of the study is to de-~~  
45 ~~velop an in-depth understanding is needed of how leaders at two hierarchical levels engage~~  
46 ~~with organizational health interventions, how leaders’ influence is differentiated, and how~~  
47 ~~their engagement can be fostered and any barriers overcome.~~ If influence over change is a  
48 quality of leaders and an essential resource for the intervention team, then access to this re-  
49  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

source is achieved through effectively ~~engagem~~ent~~ing-of~~ leaders in the intervention. Correspondingly, the aim of the study is to develop an in-depth understanding of how leaders at two hierarchical levels engage with organizational health interventions, how leaders' influence is differentiated, and how their engagement can be fostered and any barriers overcome. To the question of successful leader engagement in organizational health interventions, a number of subsidiary questions are raised around the conditions that support that, including: what methods or strategies can intervention teams use to engage the leaders in intervention activities; what are the barriers to successfully engaging leaders in interventions; how is leader engagement enacted and what factors can facilitate the active engagement of leaders in intervention activities; and are there differences in how leaders at different levels influence, support, and engage with organizational health interventions? Because the scope of past research does not allow to ~~clearly~~ delineate how leaders in higher and lower hierarchical levels engage with an intervention, the study was ~~necessarily~~inevitably qualitative and exploratory. In this context, the best informants (Morse, 1989) were not the leaders themselves, but the team who were responsible for implementing the intervention from inception to completion. As the intervention team was tasked with building the motivation and capacity of leaders across the organization to support the new intervention, it developed invaluable tacit understanding of the intervention process and its challenges.

## Method

### *The intervention*

This study was part of a larger ~~programme of work~~initiative that focused on developing, implementing, and evaluating intervention activities to support work engagement and ~~to~~ influence retirement intentions. ~~The intervention was carried out as a research project~~ in one hospital and one local government organization. Explicit commitment of time and resources to the work-initiative was expressed via sign-off by the organizations' Directors or Chief Ex-

1  
2  
3 executives, the Human Resource Team, and/or the Research and Development Team. The in-  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29  
30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43  
44  
45  
46  
47  
48  
49  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

ecutives, the Human Resource Team, and/or the Research and Development Team. The intervention was carried out by a dedicated intervention team with the support of the researchers team that who led on the evaluation element of the work.

Although one of the aims of the broader initiative was to impact retirement decisions, the nature and content of the specific intervention activities focused on improving the work environment for all employees. The preparatory stage for the intervention focused on bolstering leader engagement before agreeing and implementing any specific activities. All hierarchical levels of leaders in the organization below the Director were involved. This stage took twice as long as initially planned, since as it included a series of briefings with groups of managers and cross-sections of employees, and also meetings with individual leaders who had expressed concerns or required guidance. WithOn hindsight, the delay was explained by the combination of aiming to implement and negotiate, with all parties, a range of complex activities in complex and hierarchical organizations before the implementation of the intervention activities could begin. It was the intensive nature of this preparatory step and the hurdles experienced by the team in attempting to engage a large number of leaders in these two large organizations that raised questions around how leader engagement can be bolstered and how it differs between line managers and the senior management and how it can be bolstered and that provided the impetus for this study. Specific intervention activities were developed from a combination of an evidence review, a baseline staff survey, and workshops with cross sections of employees, including leaders at all levels-managers. Activities included, for example, developing mentoring, implementing multidisciplinary teams, developing resources, and revising policies and procedures. Participation, acceptance, and ownership of the interventions were of paramount importance. Activities rangedvaried broadly in content and delivery mode, as they were tailored to the specific needs of the target groups or departments

1  
2  
3 and the nature of their work. Further information ~~on the interventions~~ is available from the  
4  
5 authors.

### 6 7 *Participants*

8  
9 Study participants were ~~We interviewed~~ the ~~intervention~~ team of those actively in-  
10  
11 volved in implementing the interventions in the two organizations, which comprised of: the  
12  
13 intervention leads (one individual in each organization), the intervention champions (two in-  
14  
15 dividuals in one of the two organizations and one in the other), and the implementation team  
16  
17 of external consultants (two individuals, ~~one each dedicated assigned to each one of the two~~  
18  
19 organizations). This group of interviewees fulfilled the criteria of good informants (Morse,  
20  
21 1989): Knowledge and experience of the ~~issues subject and issues to be able to answer the~~  
22  
23 ~~questions;~~ ability to reflect ~~and communicate on these;~~ and willingness and time to partici-  
24  
25 pate in the study. As such, the intervention team of seven, although small, were the best and  
26  
27 complete source of information on how leaders engage in intervention implementation. The  
28  
29 intervention team met regularly as an entity or with the research team to share; explicit  
30  
31 knowledge about intervention and change programmes, learnings about the organizational  
32  
33 context and implementation hurdles, and tacit knowledge asthroughout the implementation of  
34  
35 the intervention activities ~~were being implemented~~. All the individuals involved in the inter-  
36  
37 vention team were approached and all agreed to be interviewed.

### 38 39 40 41 *Measures*

42  
43  
44 The interview schedule focused on how the intervention team worked with leaders to  
45  
46 secure their engagement, commitment, and support from the start and throughout the initia-  
47  
48 tive, differentiating between senior management and line managers, and with relevant probes.  
49  
50 To address the main and subsidiary research questions the interviews covered: (1) the ways  
51  
52 by which the leaders were consulted at the start of the intervention and their responses to the  
53  
54 intervention plans (i.e., “To what extent and in what ways did you consult or inform different  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

1  
2  
3 levels of management about the initiatives? Let's start with senior management...", "What  
4 was the immediate reaction from...?"); (2) any barriers experienced, their permeability  
5 among leaders, and how the intervention team dealt with these (i.e., "To what extent were  
6 these obstacles, challenges, and reasons for resistance common amongst managers?", "How  
7 did you deal with these obstacles/challenges that you faced?", "Have there been any other  
8 key obstacles/challenges you have experienced...?"; "Thinking back, what are the main in-  
9 gredients in securing... engagement?"; "How did you manage to sustain this engagement in  
10 the longer term?", "What would you change when attempting to secure the engagement of...  
11 for these initiatives?"); (3) differences between leaders in influence and support (i.e., "I am  
12 interested to know how influential different levels of management actually are. What was  
13 your experience when implementing the initiatives?", "If you experienced support and enthu-  
14 siasm from some managers, how was that support demonstrated in practice?"; "How im-  
15 portant is the support from senior management as compared to the support from line manag-  
16 ers for change interventions?); and (4) the temporal challenges around changing leaders' per-  
17 ceptions and sustaining their engagement (i.e., "How long did it take to shift the perceptions  
18 of leaders and managers about the intervention?", "How did you manage to sustain this en-  
19 gagement in the longer term?"). ~~When Unpinning - developing the development of the~~ inter-  
20 view questions ~~was, thean~~ intention ~~was~~ to ~~cover the topics that emerged from the broader~~  
21 ~~literature but to also to~~ encourage discussion and sharing of experiences ~~and any emerging~~  
22 ~~issues.~~

#### 23 Procedure

24  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29  
30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43  
44  
45  
46  
47  
48  
49  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60  
Semi-structured individual interviews, lasting approximately 60 minutes ~~or~~ as deter-  
mined by the interviewee, were carried out over the phone. ~~These were and~~ recorded with  
each interviewee's permission ~~and -notes were also taken.~~ Follow-up telephone interviews  
were also conducted, where it was deemed necessary to expand on the responses, gain more

1  
2  
3 in-depth information, or clarify any ~~responses points that were unclear~~. Before the interview,  
4 the purpose of the study and ethical considerations (*i.e.*, voluntary participation, confidentiali-  
5 ty, anonymity, use of data, and feedback) were ~~discussed with explained to~~ the participants.

6  
7  
8  
9 ~~Notes of what was being said were also taken by the interviewers.~~

### 10 11 *Analysis*

12  
13 Thematic analysis was carried out on the ~~data from the recorded~~ interviews. Thematic  
14 analysis was the appropriate method because it allows to identify emergent patterns in the  
15 information shared by the interviews and is not tied to a theoretical or epistemological  
16 framework (Braun and Clarke, 2006). In line with the steps suggested by Halcomb and Da-  
17 vidson (2006) the recordings were listened to several times and notes made throughout. Ac-  
18 cording to Wengraf (2001) and Fasick (1977-78), the notes taken during the interviews are  
19 considered to be ‘primary interview records’ that are important for research quality and in no  
20 case should be overlooked by the researchers. Even though ~~the~~ audio-recordings ~~are offer~~ use-  
21 ful verbatim accounts of the interview, they fail to replace the ‘paper and pencil recording’  
22 owing to the challenges associated with transcription and coding (Fasick, 1977-78). This does  
23 not ~~necessarily~~ undermine the importance of audio-recordings (Fasick, 1977-78). Preliminary  
24 analysis was applied by one of the researchers to identify initial themes which were then  
25 cross-checked by another researcher, ~~and~~ populated with evidence from the recordings and  
26 interview notes.

### 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 55 56 57 58 59 60

### Results

Seven themes on leader engagement in organizational health interventions emerged  
from the ~~individual~~ interviews with the intervention team. Not all themes differentiated  
between line managers (LM) and senior management (SM). The themes and sub themes,  
together with explicative quotes, are presented in Table 1. Any names or job positions  
mentioned by the interviewees were substituted with ‘LM’ or ‘SM’, as appropriate.

---

Insert Table 1 about here

---

*Theme 1:*

*Background: Methods Ways of consultation used*

By way of providing some background, the ~~The first theme that emerged from the analyses, and that related to the first set of questions~~ strategies and methods used by the intervention team to consult with the leaders at the start of the initiative were discussed, described the range of ways in which the intervention team consulted with the LM and SM on the intervention. No indication was given of which methods were more or less effective as these were necessarily tailored to the recipients.

Formalized ways of consultation included meetings, formal reports, and emails cascaded from the Director/Chief Executive to all leaders. For example:

“through implementation framework such as briefing papers, formal reports...

presentations at leaders and management meetings” (Interviewee A)

“we had meetings and presentations to the corporates director board” (Interviewee B)

Informal ad-hoc ways of consultation, such as ~~ad-hoc~~ group sessions and face-to-face personal discussions and meetings, were also used by the intervention team as and when necessary. These demonstrated the broad range of methods that the intervention team used in order to engage a diverse group of leaders in these large organizations and to implement the intervention activities. They also demonstrated the need for flexibility by the intervention team in deciding how to engage leaders or groups of leaders in accordance with their needs. For example:

“our offices were on the same floor and [we] quite informally got to know them”

(Interviewee E)



“we had all of the group sessions to start with... we had peer group sessions of senior managers, peer groups sessions of first line management level...” (Interviewee F)

*Theme 21: Initial Types of reactions (support or resistance) by the leaders*

This theme describes the leaders' initial reactions to the intervention ~~activities~~ aims and plans. Although the ~~overall intervention~~ overall initiative ~~was~~ was signed off by the top management ~~team~~ (Director or Chief Executive) and the specific activities were developed and agreed with all employees at the workshops, it was the intervention team and LM who were allocated responsibility for the day-to-day implementation of the intervention ~~programme~~. The SM were positive because they were involved in the discussions broadly. Some LM, despite understanding ~~accepting~~ the need for the intervention, were apathetic and passive towards the involvement of the employees that they managed. For example:

“They understood but some of them disengaged slightly” (Interviewee A reporting on an LM)

Reactions to the intervention plans were both positive ~~or~~ and negative. Initial expressed support ~~Positive attitudes~~ included expressions of enthusiasm for the overall aims of the intervention, where SM and LM saw the need for these, and included overt support ~~by~~ from the SM and positive attitudes ~~by~~ from the LM ~~groups~~. For example:

“if I walked passed the [SM] office and had the door open and not in a meeting she always asked could she do anything for me” (Interviewee E)

“the immediate reaction was positive when we first went to them [to SM] from the Chief Executive level, very very positive, but less positive from the [LM] management team” (Interviewee F)

Initial ~~a~~ Active resistance, on the other hand, describes ~~sd~~ active sabotaging of activities (e.g., not releasing staff to attend workshops), resignations withdrawals by individuals in key positions, active disengagement (e.g., not attending briefings or forwarding information), and

expressed frustration with the overall feedback from the baseline survey. Two cases of resignation were reported by the intervention team. The first concerned “one sister that was very difficult to work with... she handed in her resignation” (Interviewee E). The second concerned a midwife in an LM position who ~~had~~ requested to be moved to another job after which she was assigned and then a year-long secondment. The resignations were a result of a combination of individual factors such as personal history of negative working relationships, low work LM competence, and negative attitudes which affected involvement in the intervention activities. The expressed frustration was related to perceptions by the individual LM that he/she did not work hard enough, which was a misinterpretation of the feedback on LMs from the baseline survey and workshops. Where the intervention team saw that negative reactions posed a risk to the intervention itself, it was necessary to engage with the individuals in one-to-one meetings and sometimes rely on the influence of the Director in order to prevent the intervention from derailing. Active resistance byfrom some of the leaders was direct and palpable ~~and direct~~. For example:

“...‘That’s nonsense and rubbish, I am not doing that’...” (Interviewee E reporting on what an LM had said)

“...‘we don’t think you are getting anywhere but good luck with that’...”

(Interviewee C reporting on what a leader [unclear if it was SM or LM] had said)

“I had people being angry with me... Some people took it almost like an attack on their professionalism... In a healthcare organization [...] the large majority of the people coming to work every day is to do a good job, so motivation is good. If someone comes and says ‘you know you could better’, they don’t like it...”

(Interviewee D)

*Theme 32: Reasons for reactions Barriers to leader engagement*

Theme 3 describes the barriers to engagement by the reasons for the leaders in terms of varied their reactions to the intervention. ~~These include emotions and perceptions, the communication processes, and also organizational factors.~~

~~It includes three sub-themes. Perceptual and emotional~~ *Emotions and perceptions* barriers to engagement included covers issues such as lack of confidence in the sustainability of the intervention, lack of buy-in related to perceived lack of relevance or interest in the goals of the intervention, the leaders (especially some LMs) feeling that their authority was being undermined, competing structural organizational changes that related to the broader political environment (especially pertinent to the civil service), and feeling overloaded with work that was ~~over~~ and ~~beyond~~ the normal workload. For example:

“change in management resulted in ongoing ‘sell’ of the benefits of the project and although the initiatives were driven, following the survey and group sessions, by staff, new managers in post wanted to be seen to be taking action and influence change from their own experiences” (Interviewee A)

Some of the LM believed that the intervention team were adding extra demands and tasks on their workload or felt that their authority was being undermined. For example:

“they thought that the project was coming to help this and not give [them] extra work” (Interviewee E)

Poor quality of C~~ommunication-quality~~ includes ~~sd~~ the lack of communication and also inconsistency in delivering the intervention messages across the organizations. The former was due to weak or lack of people management skills necessary to support staff involvement in the broader intervention programme and specific activities. On reflection among the intervention team, it was felt that the latter was mainly due to the highly hierarchical structure of both the two organizations and the loss of information as it cascaded down the hierarchy and also between the intervention team and the larger group of leaders in

these organizations. As a result, it was also felt that the initial focus of the intervention was diluted. For example:

“inconsistency in the message around the initial launch being about the older worker and that was quite quickly lost” (Interviewee A)

Finally, underlying organizational factors-that can explained the leaders’ reactions to disengagement and lack of support for the intervention activities-included: history of failures about implementation of change in the specific work unit or department (and consequently lack of confidence that the intervention would succeed), hierarchy (i.e., hierarchical structure of too many layers of management in both organizations), bureaucracy, and work planning issues (especially where it was difficult to reschedule tasks or replace employees to allow them to attend intervention activities). For example:

“Historically in the healthcare sector the change implemented top down cannot be embedded and it is not sustainable” (Interviewee F)

“There have been similar initiatives done in the past around engagement and a couple of managers mentioned about sustainability and projects come and go and nothing seems to be sustainable” (Interviewee C)

*Theme 43: Ways Dealing with -of dealing with-barriers to leader engagement*

One of the intervention team’s core responsibilities was to deal with any obstacles presented, in order to smooth the way for the acceptance and reach of the intervention activities. Their methods of dealing with hurdles to leader engagement were broad and varied and reflected in theme 3 and its two sub-themes.

Formalized and targeted communication ways of dealing with barriers-included ad-hoc and ongoing discussions and meetings with the SM team and LMs and aiming to generate quick intervention wins. Both, but especiallyIn particular the latter, were- was

1  
2  
3 deliberate and aimed at securing buy-in and bolstering acceptability and uptake of the actions  
4  
5 across the board. For example:

6  
7 “going to the middle managers and speaking to SM and be fully aware of how this  
8  
9 is” (Interviewee G talking about an LM’s negative behaviours)

10  
11 *Perspective-taking* describes more informal and personal ways of dealing with  
12  
13 barriers such as initiating reactive ad-hoc discussions with individual leaders where their  
14  
15 concerns were addressed and their perspectives taken into account, demonstrating active  
16  
17 listening, incorporating suggestions into intervention plans, and recognizing leaders’  
18  
19 contribution to the intervention. These ways by which the intervention team dealt with  
20  
21 obstacles helped to highlight the leaders’ vested interests, boost pride, and increase their  
22  
23 ownership of the intervention or, rather, to transfer ownership from the intervention team to  
24  
25 the leaders themselves. Intervention team members reported on how this approach gradually  
26  
27 changed the leaders’ attitude:  
28  
29

30  
31 “from ‘this is your project, it is not for us’ to ‘this is your project and we want to work  
32  
33 with you to achieve these results’ ” (Interviewee C reporting on a leader’s position [it  
34  
35 was unclear if it was SM or LM])  
36

37 *Theme 54: Factors ~~related~~ ~~facilitating~~ ~~to~~ leader engagement*

38  
39 Theme 54 refers to the range of factors identified ~~to~~ ~~as~~ ~~essential~~ ~~for~~ ~~facilitating~~ ~~be~~  
40  
41 ~~associated with the~~ leaders’ engagement with the intervention, ~~which~~ ~~and~~ ~~were~~ ~~are~~ grouped  
42  
43 under three sub-themes: ~~means of communication, attitudes, and impact on daily work.~~

44  
45 *Regular and quality Means of communication* describes ~~ed~~ communication activities  
46  
47 such as being solicitous to convey key messages consistently (such as the message that the  
48  
49 Director/Chief Executive is supportive of the interventions and the role of the intervention  
50  
51 champion) and ~~use~~ ~~ing~~ unambiguous language in discussions, initiating follow-up discussions  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

~~and~~, encouraging face-to-face meetings, and generally keeping communication lines open.

For example:

“It is understanding what would add value to them and it is sticking to the initial objective and being very clear what the objectives are, what the outcomes are gonna be and when they will be achieved by” (Interviewee A)

*Showing consideration for the leader’s role and needs* describes a range of activities aimed at getting acquainted and building rapport with the leaders. This entails ~~and~~ demonstrating a more genuine and personal approach ~~that by involves~~ getting to know the leader’s perspective, demonstrating how the intervention can add value to their daily work, showing respect by not acting without explicit SM approval even on minor issues, and establishing a professional and open relationship. This sub-theme ~~was~~ especially relevant to SM, perhaps because of their more distant position in relation to the daily workings of the intervention. For example:

“Learning and understanding their personalities... It was very important to always show respect to SM... show them their position and place” (Interviewee E)

*Demonstrating ~~Impact~~ on the business and daily work* relates ~~ed~~ to providing evidence that the investment of time and resources in the intervention ~~was~~ worthwhile, demonstrating the value and benefits of the initiatives/activities, and promoting an agenda of supporting for the organization’s work culture and ~~business~~ priorities. For example:

“... ‘tell me what it aims to achieve’ ...” (Interviewee C reporting on a leader’s position [it was unclear if it was SM or LM])

*Theme ~~65~~: Factors differentiating/accelerating-between leadership levels/leader engagement*

The me 5 -final theme relate is an extension of theme 4 but reflects the fact that ~~it to the~~ time that it may take for building leader engagement takes time/leaders to engage with the intervention. Three sub-themes describe how the intervention team can accelerate leader

~~engagement with the intervention and included: conveying regular and targeted messages, impact on work, and time to process. As mentioned, the preparatory stage of the intervention involved a 'campaign' to engage all the leaders. Perhaps due to the size and hierarchical structure of the two organizations, this stage took longer than anticipated.~~

~~Regular Cascading and targeted messages~~ reflects the findings that building SM engagement, through regular updates and could feedback speed up SM engagement or by other means, is not only essential but can also cascade to and accelerate, and in turn, LM engagement. For example:

“Due to the regular updates they receive the SM know more what is going to happen... so therefore they come on board quite quickly” (Interviewee E)

“... ‘clearly the Director is supporting this and maybe I should get involved’ ...” (Interviewee C reflecting on the leaders’ position)

~~Projected benefits refers to the leaders' ability to immediately appreciate the potential benefits of the intervention on their daily work and the work of those that they manage, and was relevant to both levels but especially the LM. For example:~~

~~“As soon as the LMs see direct effect on their work some LMs want to be left and some are more than happy to be involved” (Interviewee E)~~

~~Allowing Time and tuning the and pace of engagement activities~~ describes the fact that some individuals leaders may need more time to consider the intervention plans before and in order to engage more actively. Engagement here in this sense is first mental (so as to allow individuals to think though the implications, such as projected benefits, and plan ahead) and then behavioral. This sub-theme also reflected~~s~~ the need to find the right time and pace for each leader when communicating and delivering implementing the intervention, so that he or she can more easily integrate it into their normal workflow. For example:

“some people will think and be prepared to see through or understand that there are reasons why ‘things are not happening as quickly as I would like them to’, but some people say ‘actually I cannot afford any more time and this is not happening quickly enough’ therefore, they drop out” (Interviewee C)

*Projected benefits of change* refers to the leaders’ ability to immediately appreciate the potential benefits of the intervention on their daily work and the work of those that they manage, ~~and~~. This sub-theme was relevant to both levels but especially so to the the LM. For example:

“As soon as the LMs see direct effect on their work some LMs want to be left and some are more than happy to be involved” (Interviewee E)

*Theme 76: Factors linked to differences in engagement between leadership levels* ~~Time to engage~~

~~This~~ Finally, theme 6 ~~relates covers to~~ the factors explicit to that described the differential influence of the SM and LM in the intervention ~~and included: position in the hierarchy, work relationships and personality, and the scope of change.~~

*The leader’s Position in the hierarchy* covers the roles and accountability ~~that of~~ the two levels of leaders ~~have~~. Although all leaders ~~haved~~ some influence ~~or posed barriers~~ on the implementation of the initiatives/intervention activities, SM’s influence ~~hasd~~ a wider reach because of their overall control ~~they had~~ on the process and ~~overall~~ decision-making in relation to broad-intervention aims and resources, whereas LM ~~haved~~ decision-making over narrower more focused operational activities such as, for example, deciding whether staff can be released from their daily duties ~~and were more influential at the team level but not on the whole set of initiatives~~. For example:

“The more senior they get the more sway they have over large number of things” (Interviewee C)



This theme also reflects the fact that these two hierarchical levels of leadership were interrelated in their work roles and influence. SM required to be copied into requests for resources in order for them not to be ignored by the LM. Not involving the SM was a risk to engagement by the LM and intervention participants. For example:

“if the senior management is involved it must be serious” (Interviewee E)

The leader's Authority relates to whose opinion staff respected the most, and how authority was perceived by the intervention's target participants when considering whether to be involved with the intervention. Some employees were cautious, others always sought permission, and yet others only decide whether to take part in the intervention activities after decided by considering their leaders' position. For example:

“People will look to a level above their line manager... and then depends on the relationship between these two managers” (Interviewee C)

The Scope of change describes the fact that a leader's engagement with an initiative was influenced by their judgement of how broad and pervasive the change is can define his or her engagement with the intervention, such that often, for example, LM were more cautious and also perhaps limited by the scope of their remit and their operational role. For example:

“It depends on the level of the change” (Interviewee C)

### Discussion

This study drew from the perspectives of the intervention team to offer an in-depth exploration of how leaders at two levels in the organizational hierarchy engage in organizational health interventions. The study was motivated by two arguments. First, that if influence over change, which is within the remit of the leaders, is an indispensable resource for the intervention team to use, then access to this resource is best achieved by actively engaging the leaders in the intervention. Second, that the engagement of leaders in

1  
2  
3 interventions is idiosyncratic to their position in the organizational hierarchy, ~~which~~  
4  
5 ~~signifies~~ ying their different roles and responsibilities.

6  
7 ~~Six~~ seven themes and ~~18~~ 6 sub-themes emerged that described: ~~the ways by which~~  
8  
9 ~~leaders were consulted on the intervention plans, reactions to these, reasons for their~~  
10  
11 ~~reactions, ways in which the intervention team dealt with potential barriers to engaging the~~  
12  
13 ~~leaders, factors that related to leader engagement, factors that differentiated between~~  
14  
15 ~~leadership levels, and the time and pace of engagement~~ the leaders' initial reactions to the  
16  
17 interventions, barriers to leader engagement, ways in which the intervention team dealt with  
18  
19 these barriers, factors facilitating and factors accelerating leader engagement, and differences  
20  
21 in engagement between leadership levels.

22  
23  
24 ——— These themes and sub-themes related to both leadership levels but some ~~were~~ are  
25  
26 more relevant to either SM or LM ~~one or the other~~. Underlying the successful engagement of  
27  
28 leaders in ~~the~~ an intervention ~~was~~ is the need to take a more personal approach characterized  
29  
30 by clear communication, showing demonstrable consideration for their perspectives and  
31  
32 work ~~remit~~, demonstrating respect for their authority (i.e., not acting without SM's approval  
33  
34 of the intervention process and activities ~~but~~ and also respecting LM authority over day-to-  
35  
36 day work), and finding the right time and pace for each leader to engage in initiatives which  
37  
38 tend to be ad-hoc and ~~were~~ not ~~directly~~ part of their work. As expected, efforts to engage  
39  
40 leaders in the intervention ~~were~~ are more effective when they were aligned to the leader's  
41  
42 remit and perspectives. This was highlighted by the recurrence in the sub-themes of having  
43  
44 clear, targeted or personalized, and open communication, in various forms and at all stages of  
45  
46 the intervention, when attempting to engage the leaders. Indeed, building ownership is  
47  
48 essential for intervention success (Biggs and Brough, 2005; Cox et al., 2007) and this applies  
49  
50 to engaging the leaders as intervention targets.  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

1  
2  
3 Being first in the hierarchy to be ~~approached~~involved and having direct access to  
4 updates by the intervention team, the SM ~~team~~tended to be more positive in their reactions to  
5 the intervention and ~~achieve~~reach buy-in more quickly. ~~Line managers~~LM ~~were~~tend to be  
6 ~~informed~~involved ~~mainly and initially~~mainly via the SM and group meetings (which the  
7 intervention team tried to ~~redress~~address by adopting more direct means of communication  
8 with the LM) ~~and~~, ~~tended~~ to be more cautious about the impact of activities on day-to-day  
9 work. ~~They~~LM also engaged more readily if SM were also visibly engaged, understood the  
10 benefits of the intervention on their work, and were allowed time to engage, first mentally  
11 and then in more tangible ways. As expected, the engagement in intervention implementation  
12 of leaders at different levels of the hierarchy ~~in intervention implementation~~ was linked to  
13 their seniority, which ~~, as mentioned,~~ signifies their different remits and responsibilities,  
14 power and influence. Furthermore, the natural interdependence between leaders at different  
15 tiers was highlighted by the finding that lack of SM senior management engagement was a  
16 potential risk to ~~line manager~~LM engagement. ~~Not only was~~ ~~the~~ ~~engagement~~ ~~in the~~  
17 ~~intervention~~ of leaders in strategic roles was qualitatively different ~~to~~from the engagement of  
18 leaders in operational roles ~~but also,~~ ~~and both~~ ~~the two were~~ ~~inextricable in defining~~ ~~are~~  
19 ~~inextricable in organizational health interventions~~ ~~each other's engagement in the~~  
20 ~~intervention.~~

21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29  
30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42 Essentially, the crux of the study is the proposition that leader engagement with an  
43 intervention may differ for ~~because~~ leaders at different hierarchical levels who have different  
44 remits, priorities, and perspectives, and therefore it is necessary for the intervention team to  
45 understand how these to maximize leader engagement, ~~and the wider organisational context,~~  
46 when planning an intervention. ~~Bolstering the capability and motivation of leaders to support~~  
47 ~~an intervention is a prerequisite of successful interventions and, indeed, of any organizational~~  
48 ~~goal or initiative.~~ The perspectives of the intervention team as harvested in this study support  
49  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

1  
2  
3 this proposition. Bolstering the capability and motivation of leaders to support organizational  
4 health interventions, or any organizational change initiative, is a prerequisite for their  
5 successful implementation.  
6  
7

#### 8 *Implications for research*

9  
10  
11 The findings of this study have implications for intervention research. First and  
12  
13 foremost, it is time to develop more systematic knowledge on leadership in organizational  
14  
15 health interventions. The need to build adequate leadership capacity to support interventions  
16  
17 is cited as most important but also most often overlooked (Biron and Brun, 2006; Cox *et al.*,  
18  
19 2007; Cox, Karanika-Murray, Griffiths, Wong and Hardy, 2009; Nytrø *et al.*, 1998; Nytrø *et al.*,  
20  
21 2000; Saksvik *et al.*, 2002; Tvedt *et al.*, 2006). Building leadership for interventions  
22  
23 would go beyond tactical and practical intervention planning, to gather evidence on the  
24  
25 superordinate and intermediate leader qualities in relation to intervention implementation,  
26  
27 before enlisting the support of leaders at different levels in a planned and methodical way. In  
28  
29 turn, this ~~will~~would allow to explore how specific influence strategies (downward, or even  
30  
31 upward) are used and which are most efficient, or how different ~~level~~stiers of leadership  
32  
33 ~~interact and influence~~<sup>2</sup> ~~or engage with~~ employees in the context of organizational health  
34  
35 interventions. For example, different attributes, behaviors, or influence tactics of leaders in  
36  
37 strategic roles and those in operational roles may be more or less relevant ~~to~~ or effective at  
38  
39 different ~~stages of the~~ intervention stages.  
40  
41  
42  
43

44 \_\_\_\_\_ On paper and in planning, roles are described clearly and coherently but, in practice,  
45  
46 often they are not enforced (Hasson *et al.*, 2014), perhaps because of conflicting demands of  
47  
48 daily work or the lack of authority by the intervention team to implement them. Coetzee,  
49  
50 Visagie and Ukpere (2003) examined the leader competencies for supporting organizational  
51  
52 change and proposed three ingredients: creating a vision for the change, offering guidance  
53  
54 during the process of change, and applying leadership attributes (competencies, capabilities,  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

and values) to the implementation of the change programme. Although organizational change differs from organizational health interventions in aim and scope, ~~some they also greatly overlap ingredients in terms of the implementation process and ingredients are the same.~~

When discussing the role of management capacity in the context of stress management interventions, Cox and colleagues (2007) recommended that good management is essential at all stages of an intervention. But we need better knowledge on the specifics of leadership attributes in the context of interventions ~~and t.~~ Therefore, it is necessary to expand on this line of research to identify specific intervention leadership competencies, behaviours, or influence tactics.

Second, the ~~findings learnings from this study could~~ may lead to more focused research on ~~how the role of~~ positive attitudes and perceptions by leaders at different hierarchical levels ~~impact on intervention success.~~ For example, ~~we know that~~ leaders form specific perceptions of the interventions (Nielsen and Randall, 2012), which, as the ~~current findings show indicate,~~ may be because ~~of their they form specific-~~ perceptions of the extent ~~and scope~~ of change. ~~In turn, t~~ They may also form perceptions about their implicit role in the intervention vis-a-vis their work load and role in the process and the extent of change. It is also possible that the effectiveness of the mechanisms and tactics by which leaders exert influence on change more broadly and intervention participants in particular (e.g., political skill [Munyon *et al.*, 2015; Ferris *et al.*, 2007], intra-organizational influence [Kipnis *et al.*, 1980], promoting transparency and accountability [Goodridge *et al.*, 2015], controlling resources [Dahl-Jørgensen and Saksvik, 2005], influencing participants' attitudes, initiative, motivation and readiness for change [Cox *et al.*, 2007; Hiller *et al.*, 2011, Weiner, 2009]), varies by the leaders' seniority, remit, and agendas. Better understanding of the mechanisms of influence enacted by leaders ~~can~~ could inform ~~better conceived and more~~ effective engagement plans and, consequently, ~~better more efficient~~ use of intervention resources.

1  
2  
3 Third, ~~the role of~~ perspective-taking by the intervention team was highlighted as  
4 important for helping the leaders to contextualize the intervention to their roles and priorities.  
5 ~~It was also important for -and even for~~ appeasing personal egos. Indeed, perspective-taking  
6 has been proposed as a constructive approach to reducing conflict (Sessa, 1996), improving  
7 social relationships (Longmire and Harrison, 2018), and improving team functioning  
8 (Williams, Parker and Turner, 2007), especially in complex workplace interactions  
9 (Longmire and Harrison, 2016). As such, it may be central for building stakeholder  
10 engagement and aligning personal agendas to intervention objectives, but has yet to be  
11 examined in this context.  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21

### 22 *Implications for practice*

23  
24 The findings of this study also have immediate practical implications for creating  
25 tailored engagement plans for leaders at different seniority levels. Some of these actions are  
26 relevant to all leaders ~~at all levels~~, whereas others are pertinent to leaders at ~~specific different~~  
27 ~~levelstiers~~ in the organizational hierarchy.  
28  
29  
30  
31  
32

33 First, tailored engagement and awareness activities are as important for the leaders as  
34 they are for the ~~target~~ intervention recipients. The value of the preparatory stages for building  
35 participation and ownership among stakeholders (Biggs and Brough, 2005; Cox *et al.*, 2007)  
36 is based on successfully engaging leaders, which necessitates an understanding of their  
37 remit, needs, and perspectives (Hasson *et al.*, 2014). Tailored engagement can be enhanced  
38 by offering activities that are aligned to the leaders' remit and priorities and informed by their  
39 personal perspectives on change and ~~expectations of~~ the intervention ~~process~~. More  
40 specifically, for line managers this may mean highlighting implications for daily operational  
41 tasks, helping to organize work around intervention activities, adjusting the pace of change to  
42 the work targets, restricting the scope of change, ~~building rapport~~ and encouraging ~~open and~~  
43 ~~clear~~ communication at every stage. For senior management, tailored engagement activities  
44  
45  
46  
47  
48  
49  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

1  
2  
3 may focus on highlighting the impact of change on the business, ~~showing respect for their~~  
4 ~~authority~~, and offering regular updates ~~or~~ and feedback. For both leadership levels, it is  
5  
6 important to demonstrate the potential value and benefits of the initiatives via quick wins,  
7  
8 inviting consultation, and showing perspective-taking and respect for their authority. In  
9  
10 practice, perhaps due to restrictions in resources or assumptions relating to ‘who needs to be  
11  
12 persuaded’, preparatory stages are either limited to awareness--raising across the whole  
13  
14 organization or tend to target those directly involved in ~~delivering~~ the intervention. If change  
15  
16 concerns everyone in the organization, everyone should be engaged in their own terms and  
17  
18 according to their work priorities and needs. Participatory approaches, hailed as important for  
19  
20 addressing resistance to change and improving intervention perceptions (Nielsen 2013), could  
21  
22 also be enhanced in such ~~specific~~ ways.

23  
24  
25  
26  
27 Second, ~~beyond understanding leaders’ perspectives,~~ it is important to invest in  
28  
29 developing leadership resources for delivering interventions, perhaps as an explicit aim or  
30  
31 preparatory activity, with the aim to support change or intervention gains beyond the lifetime  
32  
33 of the intervention. As an example, LOCI, the Leadership and Organizational Change for  
34  
35 Implementation programme, was aimed at developing the leaders’ potential to support  
36  
37 interventions by bolstering their proactivity, knowledge, and specific leadership behaviours  
38  
39 (Aarons *et al.*, 2015). ~~Indeed, This may strengthen the position of~~ intervention leadership is  
40  
41 an integral part of three of the four levels of intervention context identified by Macfarlane  
42  
43 and colleagues (2011): the individual (in this case, leader’s values, roles, and knowledge), the  
44  
45 interpersonal (in this case, communication and collaboration for intervention planning and  
46  
47 implementation), the institutional (in this case, leadership). The findings from this study  
48  
49 could help to shape further inform the context and content of intervention leadership  
50  
51 initiatives, separately for ~~targeting~~ different levels of leadership.

1  
2  
3 Third, and expanding on the importance of perspective-taking, this study shows that  
4 the organizational hierarchy, power, politics, and history are important for leader  
5 engagement. It is both courteous and common sense that the intervention team (whether it  
6 comprises of researchers, or external consultants, or internal experts, or a combination of  
7 these) shows consideration of individual leaders' concerns, is sensitive to their perspectives  
8 and experience, and establishes how the intervention can strengthen rather than undermine  
9 their influence. This can diminish the potential for, ~~in order that~~ leaders ~~do not~~ feel  
10 antagonized, threatened, or outside their comfort zone. ~~This~~It may be even more important in  
11 cases where leaders may "be promoted based on [...] expertise with little support or training  
12 in effective leadership of workplace change efforts" (Aarons *et al.*, 2015). Perspective-taking  
13 offers the intervention team a tactful and effective approach to engaging leaders in  
14 interventions.

15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29 Fourth, cascading communication on the intervention from higher to lower levels in  
30 the organizational leadership hierarchy is important (Cox *et al.*, 2007) but it also. ~~However,~~  
31 ~~this~~ requires some tailoring of communication means or content ~~or means~~ at each level of the  
32 cascade, ~~rather than merely serial or parallel transmission of information~~. As mentioned, such  
33 communication is ~~also~~ more effective if it is tailored to ~~different levels and groups of leaders,~~  
34 ~~according to their individuals'~~ roles and agendas perspectives and based on an appreciation of  
35 the impact that the intervention may have on individual daily work flow and organizational  
36 work planning.

#### 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 *Limitations*

47  
48 As a first on this topic, this study is not without limitations. The perspectives of the  
49 seven members of the intervention team reflected their personal experiences, of the specific  
50 intervention, in the specific context, and this group of leaders. Although they interviewees  
51 were the best informants on the engagement of leaders in the intervention, which is a strength  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60



rather than as a limitation, there is a possibility that the data collection was not reflective of the experiences of the intervention participants (the employees) or the leaders' perspectives.

A 360-degree assessment would ~~have allowed to~~ provide a broader and more balanced examination of leader engagement in intervention implementation, allowing to juxtapose the perspectives of different intervention stakeholders.

### *Conclusions*

Taking the perspective of the intervention implementation team, ~~this study ad-~~ dressed an important gap in the organizational health intervention literature, that of understanding the factors underpinning the successful engagement in interventions of leaders at different hierarchical levels, ~~from the perspective of the intervention implementation team~~. Treating leaders at different hierarchical levels as a homogeneous group can at best be may represent a waste of intervention resources at best or even which may even derail an intervention if it creates leads to misaligned effort, conflict, and poor working relationships. Engage- ~~ment of~~ Successfully engaging leaders in the organizational health interventions entailed- ~~s~~ demonstrating consideration and perspective-taking, showing respect for their authority, regular and ~~tailor~~ ing communication, and allowing time and pace to engage, whilst making considering the most of their leaders' roles and ~~remits (e.g., strategic vs. operation-~~ al), and specific needs. ~~Leaders set priorities, control resources, and create shared meaning among employees who are engaged in the intervention. In this way, they afford the power to support the intervention from inception, set the wheels in motion for kick-starting the inter-~~ vention, and establish the foundations for successful and sustainable outcomes beyond its im- ~~plementation.~~ Ultimately, the findings from this study have the potential to offer needed con- ~~ceptual and practical~~ insights into ~~on~~ how to better equip and support intervention teams for delivering successful interventions by successfully engaging the leaders. The question of Dis- ~~tinguishing between levels of leadership in intervention research and practice and systemati-~~

1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29  
30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43  
44  
45  
46  
47  
48  
49  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

~~ally collating and developing knowledge on intervention leadership are optimizing leader~~  
~~engagement is a~~ worthwhile and timely ~~pursuit-pursuits in research and practice, of -value~~  
~~beyond organizational health interventions.~~

## References

- 1  
2  
3  
4  
5 Aarons, G. A., Ehrhart, M. G., Farahnak, L. R., & Hurlburt, M. S. (2015). Leadership and  
6  
7 organizational change for implementation (LOCI): A randomized mixed method pi-  
8  
9 lot study of a leadership and organization development intervention for evidence-  
10  
11 based practice implementation. *Implementation Science*, *10*(1), 1-12.  
12  
13 Arnold, K. A., Turner, N., Barling, J., Kelloway, E. K., & McKee, M. C. (2007). Transforma-  
14  
15 tional leadership and psychological well-being: The mediating role of meaningful  
16  
17 work. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *12*(3), 193-203.  
18  
19 Biggs, A., & Brough, P. (2015). Explaining intervention success and failure: What works,  
20  
21 when, and why? In C. Biron & M. Karanika-Murray (Eds.), *Derailed organizational*  
22  
23 *interventions for stress and well-being* (pp. 237–244). Dordrecht: Springer.  
24  
25 Biron, C., Gatrell, C., & Cooper, C. L. (2010). Autopsy of a failure: Evaluating process and  
26  
27 contextual issues in an organizational-level work stress intervention. *International*  
28  
29 *Journal of Stress Management*, *17*(2), 135-158.  
30  
31 Biron, C., & Karanika-Murray, M. (2014). Process evaluation for organizational stress and  
32  
33 well-being interventions: Implications for theory, method, and practice. *Internation-*  
34  
35 *al Journal of Stress Management*, *21*(1), 85–111.  
36  
37 Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research*  
38  
39 *in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101.  
40  
41 Cox, T., Karanika, M., Mellor, N., Lomas, L., Houdmont, J., & Griffiths, A. (2007). *Imple-*  
42  
43 *mentation of the Management Standards for work-related stress: Process evalua-*  
44  
45 *tion*. Report to the Health & Safety Executive (SiP1 Technical Report T/6267). Not-  
46  
47 tingham: University of Nottingham.  
48  
49  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

- 1  
2  
3 Cox, T., Karanika-Murray, M., Griffiths, A., Wong, Y.Y.V., & Hardy, C. (2009). *Developing*  
4 *the management standards approach within the context of common health problems*  
5 *in the workplace: A Delphi Study* (Research Report RR687). Sudbury: HSE Books.  
6  
7  
8  
9 Dahl-Jorgensen, C., & Saksvik, P. O. (2005). The impact of two organizational interventions  
10 on the health of service sector workers. *International Journal of Health Service,*  
11 *35(3), 529–549.*  
12  
13  
14  
15 Fasick, A., F. (1977-78). Some uses of untranscribed tape recordings in survey research. *Pub-*  
16 *lic Opinion Quarterly, 41(4), 549-552.*  
17  
18  
19 Ferris GR, Treadway DC, Perrewé PL, Brouer RL, Douglas C, Lux S. (2007). Political skill  
20 in organizations. *Journal of Management, 33, 290–320.*  
21  
22  
23 Giga, S.I., Cooper, C.L., & Faragher, B. (2003). The development of a framework for a com-  
24 prehensive approach to stress management interventions at work. *International*  
25 *Journal of Stress Management, 10, 4, 280-296.*  
26  
27  
28  
29  
30 Goodridge, D., Westhorp, G., Rotter, T., Dobson, R., & Bath, B. (2015). Lean and leadership  
31 practices: Development of an initial realist program theory. *BMC Health Services*  
32 *Research 15(362), 1-15.*  
33  
34  
35  
36 Greenwood, D.J. & Levin, M. (1998). Introduction to Action Research. Newbury Park, CA:  
37 Sage.  
38  
39  
40 Halcomb, J. E. & Davidson, M. P. (2006). Is verbatim transcription of interview data always  
41 necessary? *Applied Nursing Research. 19(1), 38-42.*  
42  
43  
44  
45 Hales, C. (2005). Rooted in supervision, branching into management: Continuity and change  
46 in the role of first-line manager. *Journal of Management Studies, 42, 471–506.*  
47  
48  
49  
50 Hasson, H., Villaume, K., von Thiele Schwarz, U., & Palm, K. (2014). Managing implemen-  
51 tation: roles of line managers, senior managers, and human resource professionals in  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

an occupational health intervention. *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, 56(1), 58-65.

Hill, N. S., Seo, M.-G., Kang, J. H., & Taylor, M. S. (2012). Building employee commitment to change across organizational levels: The influence of hierarchical distance and direct managers' transformational leadership. *Organization Science*, 23, 758-777.

Hiller, N. J., DeChurch, L. A., Murase, T., & Doty, D. (2011). Searching for outcomes of leadership: A 25-year review. *Journal of Management*, 37(4), 1137-1177.

Ipsen, C., Gish, L., & Poulsen, S. (2015). Organizational-level interventions in small and medium-sized enterprises: Enabling and inhibiting factors in the PoWRS program. *Safety Science*, 71(PC), 264-274.

Karanika-Murray, M., Bartholomew, K., Williams, G., & Cox, T. (2015). LMX across levels of leadership: Concurrent influences of line managers and senior management on work characteristics and employee psychological health. *Work & Stress*, 29(1), 57-74.

Karanika-Murray, M., & Biron, C. (2015). Derailed organizational health and well-being interventions: Confessions of failure, solutions for success. (Eds.) Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer Science+Business Media.

Karanika-Murray, M., & Weyman, A. (2013). Optimising workplace interventions for health and wellbeing: A commentary on the limitations of the public health perspective within the workplace health arena. *International Journal of Workplace Health Management*, 6(2), 104-117.

Kipnis, D., Schmidt, S. M., Swaffin-Smith, C., & Wilkinson, I. (1984). Patterns of managerial influence: Shotgun managers, tacticians, and bystanders. *Organizational Dynamics*, 12(3), 58-67

- 1  
2  
3 Kipnis, D., Schmidt, S.M., and Wilkinson, I. (1980). Intraorganizational Influence Tactics:  
4 Explorations in Getting One's Way. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 65(4), 440-452.  
5  
6  
7 Kotter, J.P. (2007), Leading change: Why transformation efforts fail. In: J.V. Gallos (Ed.),  
8 Business Leadership - A Jossey-Bass Reader. San Francisco: John Wiley and Sons,  
9 Inc., pp.370-381.  
10  
11  
12  
13 Lindquist, T. L., & Cooper, C. L. (1999). Using lifestyle and coping to reduce job stress and  
14 improve health in 'at risk' office workers. *Stress and Health*, 15(3), 143-152.  
15  
16  
17  
18 Lines, R. (2004). Influence of participation in strategic change: resistance, organizational  
19 commitment and change goal achievement, *Journal of Change Management*, 4(3),  
20 193-215.  
21  
22  
23  
24 Locock, L., Dopson, S., Chambers, D., & Gabbay, J. (2001). Understanding the role of opin-  
25 ion leaders in improving clinical effectiveness. *Social Science & Medicine*, 53(6),  
26 745-757.  
27  
28  
29  
30  
31 Longmire, N., & Harrison, D. A. (2016). Seeing Their Side, Feeling Their Pain: Outcomes of  
32 Perspective-Taking and Empathic Concern at Work. In *Academy of Management*  
33 *Proceedings* (Vol. 2016, No. 1, p. 17923). Briarcliff Manor, NY 10510: Academy of  
34 Management.  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39 Longmire, N. H., & Harrison, D. A. (2018). Seeing their side versus feeling their pain: Dif-  
40 ferential consequences of perspective-taking and empathy at work. *Journal of Ap-*  
41 *plied Psychology*.  
42  
43  
44  
45  
46 Macfarlane F, Greenhalgh T, Humphrey C, Hughes J, Butler C, Pawson R. (2011) A new  
47 workforce in the making? A case study of strategic human resource management in  
48 a whole-system change effort in healthcare. *Journal of Health Organization Man-*  
49 *agement* 25(1):55–72.  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

- 1  
2  
3 Mintzberg, H. (1979). *The structuring of organizations: A synthesis of the research*. Eng-  
4 lewood Hills, NJ: Prentice Hall.  
5  
6  
7 Morse, J. (1989). Strategies for sampling. In: Morse, J. (ed.) *Qualitative nursing research: a*  
8 *contemporary dialogue*. Rockville, MD, USA: Aspen Press, pp. 117-31.  
9  
10  
11 Munyon, T. P., Summers, J. K., Thompson, K. M., & Ferris, G. R. (2015). Political skill and  
12 work outcomes: A theoretical extension, meta-analytic investigation, and agenda for  
13 the future. *Personnel Psychology*, 68(1), 143-184  
14  
15  
16 Nielsen, K. (2013). How can we make organizational interventions work? Employees and  
17 line managers as actively crafting interventions. *Human Relations*, 66(8), 1029-  
18 1050.  
19  
20  
21 Nielsen, K., & Randall, R. (2012). The importance of employee participation and perceptions  
22 of changes in procedures in a teamworking intervention. *Work & Stress*, 26, 91–111.  
23  
24  
25 Nielsen, K., Taris, T. W., & Cox, T. (2010). The future of organizational interventions: Ad-  
26 dressing the challenges of today's organizations. *Work & Stress*, 24(3), 219-233.  
27  
28  
29 Northouse, P. G. (2010). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (5th ed.). Los Angeles: Sage.  
30  
31  
32 Nytrø, K., Saksvik, P. Ø., Mikkelsen, A., Bohle, P., & Quinlan, M. (2000). An appraisal of  
33 key factors in the implementation of occupational stress interventions. *Work &*  
34 *Stress*, 14(3), 213–225.  
35  
36  
37 Nytrø, K., Saksvik, P. Ö., & Torvatn, H. (1998). Organizational prerequisites for the imple-  
38 mentation of systematic health, environment and safety work in enterprises. *Safety*  
39 *Science*, 30(3), 297-307.  
40  
41  
42  
43 O’Dea, A., & Flin, R. (2003). *The role of managerial leadership in determining workplace*  
44 *safety states*. Sudbury: HSE Books.  
45  
46  
47  
48  
49  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60

- 1  
2  
3 Randall, R., Griffiths, A., & Cox, T. (2005). Evaluating organizational stress-management  
4 interventions using adapted study designs. *European Journal of Work and Organiza-*  
5 *tional Psychology, 14*(1), 23-41.  
6  
7  
8  
9 Schmidt, S.M., and Yeh, R.-S. (1992). The structure of leader influence: A cross-national  
10 comparison. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 23*(2), 251-264.  
11  
12  
13 Sessa, V. I. (1996). Using perspective taking to manage conflict and affect in teams. *Journal*  
14 *of Applied Behavioral Science, 32*(1), 101-115.  
15  
16  
17 Sørensen, O. H., & Holman, D. (2014). A participative intervention to improve employee  
18 well-being in knowledge work jobs: A mixed-methods evaluation study. *Work &*  
19 *Stress, 28*(1), 67-86.  
20  
21  
22  
23 Tvedt, S. D., Saksvik, P. Ø., & Nytrø, K. (2009). Healthy organizational change processes as  
24 a prerequisite for a good psychological work environment. *Work & Stress, 23*, 80-  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29  
30  
31 Ungerer, M., Heroldt, J., and Le Roux, J. (2013). Leadership for All: Virtue Practices to  
32 Flourish. Knowres Publishing: Randburg.  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43  
44  
45  
46  
47  
48  
49  
50  
51  
52  
53  
54  
55  
56  
57  
58  
59  
60
- Weiner, B. J. (2009). A theory of organizational readiness for change. *Implementation Sci-*  
*ence, 4*(1), 67.
- Wengraf, T. (2001). Qualitative Research Interviewing Biographic Narrative and Semi-  
Structured Interviews. London, Sage Publications.
- Williams, H. M., Parker, S. K., & Turner, N. (2007). Perceived dissimilarity and perspective  
taking within work teams. *Group and Organization Management, 32*(5), 569-597.



Table 1. Themes and sub-themes on leader engagement in the intervention

Themes	Sub-themes
Background: Methods of consultation used	Formalized consultation (e.g., meetings, formal reports, emails from Director/Chief Executive) Informal ad-hoc consultation (e.g., group sessions, face-to-face personal discussions)
Theme 1. Initial reaction (support/resistance) by the leaders	Initial expressed support (i.e., expressed enthusiasm, SM: overt support and LM: positive attitudes) Initial active resistance (i.e., sabotaging of activities, resignations, active disengagement, expressed frustration)
Theme 2. Barriers to leader engagement	Perceptual and emotional barriers (i.e., lack of confidence in sustainability, lack of buy-in, LM: feeling that own authority was being undermined, structural changes, excessive workload) Poor quality of communication (i.e., the lack of communication, LM: inconsistent messages due to loss of information cascaded down the hierarchy) Underlying organizational factors (i.e., history of failed change, SM/LM: too many layers in the hierarchy, bureaucracy, work planning considerations and priorities)

---

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14	Theme 3. Dealing with barriers to leader engagement	Formalized and targeted communication (i.e., discussions and meetings with SM/LMs, aiming to generate quick intervention wins and to secure buy-in)  Perspective-taking (i.e., initiating reactive ad-hoc discussions, addressing concerns, perspective-taking, active listening, incorporating suggestions into intervention plans, and recognizing the leader's contribution to the intervention)
15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32	Theme 4. Factors facilitating leader engagement	Regular and quality communication (i.e., consistent messages and unambiguous language, encouraging follow-up discussions and face-to-face meetings, keeping communication lines open)  Showing consideration for the leader's role and needs (i.e., getting acquainted with the leaders, genuine and personal approach, getting to know the leader's perspective, demonstrating how the intervention can add value to their daily work, showing respect by not acting without SM approval, professional and open relationship; especially relevant for SM)  Demonstrating impact on the business (i.e., evidence that investment is worthwhile, value and benefits of the initiatives, supporting work culture and business priorities)
33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40	Theme 5. Factors accelerating leader engagement	Cascading targeted messages (i.e., regularly targeting specifically the SM and, in turn, cascading to the LM)  Allowing time and tuning the pace of engagement (i.e., engagement is first mental and then behavioural)

---

---

Projected benefits of change (for LM: appreciating the benefits of the anticipated change on daily work)

---

Theme 6. Factors linked to differences in engagement between leadership levels

The leader's position in the hierarchy (i.e., different roles and accountability; for SM: wider reach, overall control and decision-making; for LM: decision-making over operational activities, influential at the team level; the two levels were interrelated, such that lack of SM involvement is a risk to LM engagement)

The leader's authority (i.e., whose opinion staff respected the most)

The scope of change (i.e., breadth and pervasiveness of change; for LM: more cautious, limited by their remit)

---